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FILED UNDER SEAL 

 

   

MEMORANDUM OPINION AND ORDER 

 Before the Court is Defendant Cisco Systems, Inc.’s (“Defendant” or “Cisco”) Motion to 

Transfer Venue to the Northern District of California (the “Motion to Transfer”). (Dkt. No. 77). 

Having considered the parties’ briefing (Dkt. Nos. 77, 91, 95, 100), Cisco’s Notice of 

Supplemental Authority (Dkt. No. 106), and the oral arguments presented at the hearing held on 

December 2, 2020 (Dkt. Nos. 117, 124, 125), and for the reasons stated herein, the Court is of the 

opinion that the Motion to Transfer should be DENIED. 

I. BACKGROUND 

A. The Patents-in-Suit 

This is a case involving allegations of patent infringement. Plaintiff Monarch Networking 

Solutions LLC (“Plaintiff” or “Monarch”) accuses Cisco of infringing four United States Patents: 

U.S. Patent Nos. 8,451,844 (“the ’844 Patent”), 8,451,845 (“the ’845 Patent”), 9,019,965 (“the 

’965 Patent”), and 8,130,775 (“the ’775 Patent”) (collectively, the “Asserted Patents”). 

(Complaint, Dkt. No. 1). The Asserted Patents all relate generally to the field of internet 

telecommunication networks. (See id. ¶¶ 18–33; Dkt. Nos. 1-2, 1-3, 1-4, 1-5). Monarch’s 
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infringement allegations bear on standards issued by the Internet Engineering Task Force 

(“IETF”), a standard-setting organization (SSO).  

The Asserted Patents were initially issued to France Telecom (later Orange, S.A. 

(“Orange”)), a French telecommunications company. France Telecom/Orange assigned the patents 

to Transpacific IP Group Limited (“Transpacific”) in 2017, which later reassigned the patents to 

Acacia Research Group LLC (“Acacia”). (Dkt. No. 1 at ¶ 5). Acacia assigned the Asserted Patents 

to Monarch in late 2019. (Dkt. No. 1 at ¶ 5). Monarch is a wholly owned subsidiary of Acacia. 

(Dkt. No. 35).  

B. Procedural History 

On January 21, 2020, Monarch filed the Complaint in this matter accusing Cisco and 

Co-Defendant Charter Communications, Inc.1 (“Charter”) of infringing the Asserted Patents. (Dkt. 

No. 1). Cisco answered the complaint on March 31, 2020. (Dkt. No. 27). On the same day, Cisco 

and Charter moved to stay this case pending a collateral proceeding (unrelated to this venue 

dispute) that implicates the chain-of-title to the Asserted Patents in the Delaware Chancery Court. 

(See Motion to Stay, Dkt. No. 31). The Court found the factual recitals in the Motion to Stay to be 

“lacking” relative to the complex nature of the chancery case, and denied the Motion to Stay 

without prejudice on May 22, 2020. (Dkt. No. 47, at 2–3). In denying the Motion to Stay, the Court 

advised the movants to “exercise caution to ensure that the factual representations included are 

both clear and accurate” should they choose to re-urge the Motion to Stay within the allowed 

window. (Id. at 3).2  

 
1  As will be discussed infra, Monarch later dismissed its claims against Charter. (See Dkt. 

Nos. 71, 72). 

2  The motion was re-urged on June 2, 2020 (Dkt. No. 54), but the Court ultimately declined 

to stay the case. (Dkt. No. 101). 
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A scheduling conference was held telephonically on May 18, 2020. On June 2, the Court 

entered a Docket Control Order (“DCO”). (Dkt. No. 51). In accordance with the Court’s normal 

scheduling protocol, the Court set the above-captioned matter for jury selection in May of 2021, 

with a pretrial conference on March 29, 2021 and a claim construction hearing on 

November 20, 2020. (Id.).3 Infringement and invalidity contentions under the Local Patent Rules 

were exchanged in May and June (see Dkt. Nos. 42, 67, 68). The Court also entered a Discovery 

Order (Dkt. No. 52), a Protective Order (after resolving a dispute over where source code was to 

be produced) (Dkt. No. 62; see also Dkt. No. 58), and an E-Discovery Order (Dkt. No. 65). The 

parties complied with their obligations under the Local Rules and the Discovery Order and 

exchanged their initial disclosures. (See Dkt. Nos. 57, 59, 61).  

Monarch dismissed its claims against Charter on July 30, 2020. (Dkt. No. 71; see also Dkt. 

No. 72). Meanwhile, the case continued to develop between Monarch and Cisco as fact discovery 

got underway. In the months following the scheduling conference, 32,200 documents were 

produced. (Sealed Transcript at 52:8, Dkt. No. 125). Since the patents were issued to France 

Telecom/Orange, a French entity, discovery required the Court to issue Letters Rogatory to the 

French Ministry of Justice so the parties could obtain documents under the Hague Convention for 

the Taking of Evidence. (See Dkt. Nos. 75, 76).4 In parallel, the parties engaged in the early stages 

of the claim construction process. In late July, the parties exchanged their proposed claim terms 

 
3  Save for minor adjustments to individual dates, and a one-month continuance recently 

granted, the case has substantially remained on that schedule. At approximately the same time as 

the Motion to Transfer was heard, the parties agreed to a one-month continuance to resolve an 

unrelated dispute about amending contentions under the Court’s Local Patent Rules. (See Dkt. 

Nos. 120, 121, 123). 

4  The timeline of this process only highlights the complexity of discovery in this case. The 

Court issued the Letters Rogatory on August 24, 2020. (Dkt. No. 76). Although the parties 

requested compliance by September 30 (see Dkt. No. 75-1, at 1, ¶ 4), the French authorities did 

not process the request until October 27. (See Dkt. No. 115).  
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under Patent Rule 4-1. (Dkt. Nos. 69, 70). In mid-August, the parties exchanged their preliminary 

claim constructions under Patent Rule 4-2. (Dkt. Nos. 73, 74). Under the then-controlling DCO, 

the parties were due to file their Joint Claim Construction Statement on September 4, 2020. (See 

Dkt. No. 51). 

Significantly, on September 3, 2020—nearly nine months after the complaint was filed, 

and nearly nine months away from trial—Cisco filed its Motion to Transfer. At the approximate 

midpoint of this case’s life cycle—after scheduling, after the exchange of infringement and 

invalidity contentions, substantially into discovery, and with claim construction briefing and 

discovery well underway—Cisco asked the Court to transfer the above-captioned matter to the 

Northern District of California on the basis of convenience. 

II. LEGAL STANDARDS 

If venue is proper in the district where a case was originally filed, a federal district court 

may transfer the case “[f]or the convenience of parties and witnesses” to “any other district or 

division where it might have been brought.” 28 U.S.C. § 1404(a). Section 1404(a)’s threshold 

inquiry is whether the case could initially have been brought in the proposed transferee forum. 

In re Volkswagen AG, 371 F.3d 201, 202–03 (5th Cir. 2004) [Volkswagen I]. If that inquiry is 

satisfied, the Court determines whether transfer is proper by analyzing and weighing various 

private and public interest factors. Humble Oil & Ref. Co. v. Bell Marine Serv., 321 F.2d 53, 56 

(5th Cir. 1963); accord In re Nintendo Co., Ltd, 589, F.3d 1194, 1198 (Fed. Cir. 2009); In re 

Apple Inc., 979 F.3d 1332, 1338 (Fed. Cir. 2020) (applying Fifth Circuit law). The private interest 

factors are “(1) the relative ease of access to sources of proof; (2) the availability of compulsory 

process to secure the attendance of witnesses; (3) the cost of attendance for willing witnesses; and 

(4) all other practical problems that make trial of a case easy, expeditious and inexpensive.” In re 
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Volkswagen of Am., Inc., 545 F.3d 304, 315 (5th Cir. 2008) (en banc) [Volkswagen II] (quoting 

Volkswagen I, 371 F.3d at 203). The public interest factors are “(1) the administrative difficulties 

flowing from court congestion; (2) the local interest in having localized interests decided at home; 

(3) the familiarity of the forum with the law that will govern the case; and (4) the avoidance of 

unnecessary problems of conflict of laws [or in] the application of foreign law.” Id. (quoting 

Volkswagen I, 371 F.3d at 203) (alterations in original). The factors are neither exclusive nor 

exhaustive, and no one factor is dispositive. Id. 

The burden to prove that a case should be transferred for convenience falls squarely on the 

moving party. See id. Although the plaintiff’s choice of forum is not a separate factor entitled to 

special weight, respect for the plaintiff’s choice of forum is encompassed in the movant’s elevated 

burden to “clearly demonstrate” that the proposed transferee forum is “clearly more convenient” 

than the forum in which the case was filed. Id. at 314–15; Apple, 979 F.3d at 1338. While “clearly 

more convenient” is not necessarily equivalent to “clear and convincing,” the moving party “must 

show materially more than a mere preponderance of convenience, lest the standard have no real or 

practical meaning.” Quest NetTech Corp. v. Apple, Inc., No. 2:19-cv-118, 2019 WL 6344267, at 

*7 (E.D. Tex. Nov. 27, 2019). In considering a transfer under § 1404(a), the Court may consider 

undisputed facts outside of the pleadings, but must draw all reasonable inferences and resolve 

factual disputes in favor of the non-movant. Vocalife LLC v. Amazon.com, Inc., No. 

2:19-CV-00123, 2019 WL 6345191, at *2 (E.D. Tex. Nov. 27, 2019); cf. Trois v. Apple Tree 

Auction Cent. Inc., 882 F.3d 485, 492–93 (5th Cir. 2018) (reviewing a transfer under § 1406); 

Ambraco, Inc. v. Bossclip B.V., 570 F.3d 233, 238 (5th Cir. 2009) (reviewing enforcement of a 

forum-selection clause). 
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III. DISCUSSION 

The threshold inquiry under § 1404(a) is whether the case could have properly been 

brought in the proposed transferee forum—in this case, the Northern District of California. Neither 

Cisco nor Monarch contest that this case could have been brought there initially. (See Dkt. No. 77, 

at 8; Dkt. No. 91, at 4). The Court finds that this case could have been brought in that district. 

Accordingly, the Motion to Transfer turns entirely on the private and public interest factors and 

their relative weights. 

A. Private Factor #1: Relative Ease of Access to Sources of Proof 

The first private factor, ease of access to sources of proof, considers “documents and 

physical evidence” as opposed to witnesses. See Volkswagen II, 545 F.3d at 315; Apple, 979 F.3d 

at 1339–40. Certain appellate courts have stressed that the physical location of such sources of 

proof remains relevant notwithstanding technological advances in data storage, copying, and 

transmission. See Volkswagen II, 545 F.3d at 316; In re Genentech, Inc., 566 F.3d 1338, 1346 

(Fed. Cir. 2009). However, parties must specifically identify sources of proof, explain their 

relevance, and specifically identify the location of those sources. AGIS Software Dev. LLC v. 

Huawei Device USA Inc., No. 2:17-cv-513, 2018 WL 2329752, at *5 (E.D. Tex. May 22, 2018); 

Utterback v. Trustmark Nat’l Bank, 716 F. App’x 241, 245 n.10 (5th Cir. 2017) (“Additionally, 

Utterback fails to identify with any specificity which witnesses and what evidence would be 

inaccessible in Mississippi but readily available in Florida. Without more, we cannot credit such 

vague and conclusional assertions.” (emphasis in original)). 

Cisco identifies five discrete sources of proof: (1) Cisco’s headquarters in the Northern 

District of California; (2) Monarch’s sources of proof in California (but outside of the Northern 

District); (3) Third-party licensee Apple’s headquarters in the Northern District of California; 
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(4) Third-party IETF, an SSO, whose headquarters is in the Northern District of California; and 

(5) Acacia, Monarch’s corporate parent, whose headquarters is in California (but outside of the 

Northern District).5 (Dkt. No. 77, at 8–10). Monarch argues that Cisco has failed to identify any 

relevant evidence physically located at its headquarters in the Northern District of California. 

(Dkt. No. 91, at 4–5). Monarch also identifies Cisco’s facilities in the Eastern District of Texas as 

having relevant documentary and physical evidence for issues such as infringement and damages. 

(Id. at 5–7). Monarch argues that itself and Acacia are willing to transport their evidence to 

Marshall, and that this heavily cuts against convenience in the Northern District. (Id. at 7). 

Monarch contests the relevance of evidence from Apple and IETF. (Id. at 7–8). Finally, Monarch 

identifies sources of proof that are convenient to neither district, such as Orange in Europe and 

Transpacific in Asia. (Id. at 8). The Court will address each in turn. 

1. Cisco’s Sources of Proof 

Turning first to Cisco’s sources of proof, there is a substantial dispute over the location of 

such sources and the significance of their locations. Cisco argues that the Accused Products were 

“principally designed from its California locations,” and that four of the five Accused Products are 

“managed” from Cisco’s California locations. (Dkt. No. 77, at 4, 9). However, Cisco also concedes 

that it “maintains electronic document repositories and thus does not anticipate identifying relevant 

non-electronic, physical documents.” (Id. at 9). Therefore, Cisco argues that the “fact that Cisco’s 

document repositories can be accessed electronically from many locations” renders these 

 
5  Cisco states that Monarch and Acacia are located in the Central District of California. (See 

Dkt. No. 77, at 8, 10). Monarch states that they are located in the Southern District of California. 

(See Dkt. No. 91, at 7). The evidence in the record shows that both Monarch and Acacia are based 

in Irvine, California. (See Dkt. No. 1, at ¶ 4; Dkt. No. 91-3, at ¶ 4). Irvine is in Orange County, 

which is in the Central District of California. See Jurisdiction, U.S. DIST. CT. FOR CENT. DIST. 

CAL., https://www.cacd.uscourts.gov/jurors/jurisdiction. 
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electronic documents neutral for a transfer analysis. (Id.). Nonetheless, Cisco posits that “to the 

extent any non-electronic, physical documents exist, they would likely be in California.” (Id.) 

Monarch urges the Court to reject the argument that physical location of electronic 

documents does not matter, as appellate courts have similarly rejected “antiquated era” arguments. 

See Volkswagen II, 545 F.3d at 316; In re Genentech, Inc., 566 F.3d 1338, 1346 (Fed. Cir. 2009). 

It contends that Cisco also has sizeable server facilities in the Eastern District of Texas that house 

relevant documents. (Dkt. No. 91, at 5–6). It also argues that Cisco has not identified with 

particularity any documents that are physically located on Cisco servers in the Northern District 

of California. (Id. at 7). Since the Court must resolve factual disputes in favor of the non-movant, 

Monarch argues that the Court should discount the relevance of Cisco’s California servers (as 

unsupported assertions) and find Cisco’s Texas servers (as potential sources of proof) to weigh 

heavily against transfer. (Dkt. No. 91, at 7). 

The Court observes significant tension between the facts in the record and the law as 

announced by the Circuits. On the one hand, the arguments advanced by Cisco have been raised 

and rejected time and time again. The Fifth Circuit has explained that a decreased inconvenience 

in access to proof due to technological advances “does not render this factor superfluous.” 

Volkswagen II, 545 F.3d at 316. Similarly, the Federal Circuit found error in concluding that the 

ease-of-access factor was neutral merely because “many of the documents were stored 

electronically[.]” In re TS Tech USA Corp., 551 F.3d 1315, 1321 (Fed. Cir. 2008) (citing 

Volkswagen II, 545 F.3d at 316); see also Genentech, 566 F.3d at 1346 (citing Volkswagen II, 545 

F.3d at 316). Thus, the physical location of evidence—even if stored electronically—remains a 

relevant consideration for the convenience analysis. Cisco’s argument that its electronic 

documents can be easily accessed anywhere is not persuasive. 
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On the other hand, the facts before the Court call into serious question whether, in a 

practical sense, a physical “location” for Cisco’s data can even be ascertained on this record. The 

evidence shows that Cisco’s data storage architecture is “distributed,” or, in other words, 

decentralized. Cisco’s Rule 30(b)(6) corporate representative, Sean Gill, testified to this effect: 

Q:  Earlier you said that Cisco uses a distributed system; is that right? 

A:  Yes, I did say that. 

Q:  What did you mean by that? 

A:  Distributed means that general data is stored in more than one location. 

 

(Gill Dep. Transcript at 38:12–17, Dkt. No. 91-2). 

 

Q:  You didn’t investigate whether copies of Cisco’s technical documents for 
the accused products are stored in Cisco’s data centers in Texas, correct? 

A:  So I did sit down with several product managers, and their expert testimony 

was that these products were designed outside of Texas and they are managed 

outside of Texas. 

  I think that satisfied my curiosity enough. Is it possible? I really don’t know. 
I don’t know where their documents are stored given that they are located in 
regions outside of Texas like Research Triangle Park; they even have a data 

center in Ottawa, Canada, in San Jose. It’s very possible those technical 
documents are stored there. 

 

(Id. at 41:5–2). 

 

Q:  At which data centers are Cisco’s marketing documents for the accused 
products stored? 

A:  So the Cisco Texas data centers, Allen and Richardson, do have some 

marketing documents stored there. I wouldn’t assume that all of them are stored 

there, though, because we do have a distributed system, a distributed network. 

 

(Id. at 44:6–14). 

 

Q:  So it’s possible that Cisco has duplicates of many of its documents stored 

at its data centers? 

A:  I mean, I would say its likely we have -- people could have the data for 

business continuity, marketing, finance, sales. Those are all very important 

aspects of Cisco’s business, so I’m sure. 
 

(Id. at 45:5–13). Clearly, relevant Cisco documents are located in the Eastern District of Texas, 

and it is very likely that there are relevant documents on Cisco’s California servers. The relative 
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numbers of documents in each location, however, are elusive. So is the location of any given 

document, as Cisco’s counsel represented during oral argument: 

[W]hen you go get these documents, as a practical matter, you know, obviously 

they’re confidential documents. And the way you get them, you don’t specify 

locations to get them from. You don’t say, I want all the documents from, you 

know, this storage center or that storage center. You are a person that is given a 

password that’s qualified to get access to certain confidential information. And then 

you just go in and get it. And it doesn’t really matter where you are when you get 

it, nor where you get it from as the production is made. 

 

(Sealed Transcript at 9:7–18, Dkt. No. 125).  

 The physical location of electronic documents remains an important consideration under 

the convenience analysis. That aside, the Court should not have to hazard a guess as to where those 

locations might be. Consequently, the Court finds that the locations of Cisco’s data storage sites 

has a neutral effect on the first private factor—not because physical location is unimportant, but 

because it has not been established with certainty or clarity. While Cisco documents are likely to 

be on both Texas and California servers, each counterweighs the other. 

 Turning next to Cisco’s non-electronic documents and physical evidence, Cisco contends 

that, to the extent they exist, “they would likely be found in California.” (Dkt. No. 77, at 9). With 

respect to the Accused Products themselves, Monarch contends that there is equal convenience 

between this District and the Northern District of California because Cisco has admitted that the 

Accused Products are used in the Richardson and Allen data centers. (Dkt. No. 91, at 6; see also 

Gill Dep. Transcript at 101:7–11, Dkt. No. 91-2). The Court agrees with Monarch that there is 

equal convenience between the two districts with respect to transporting physical exemplars of the 

Accused Products. 

In sum, Cisco’s electronic documents and physical, non-documentary evidence are both 

neutral with respect to transfer. Given Cisco’s concession that it “does not anticipate identifying 
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relevant non-electronic, physical documents,” (Dkt. No. 77, at 9), Cisco is left to stand on the 

likelihood that other non-electronic documentary evidence exists and is found in California. Cisco 

has not identified any such documents. If such evidence does exist, it would likely be found at 

Cisco’s headquarters in the Northern District of California, and for that reason, Cisco’s own 

sources of proof add some limited weight in favor of transfer. See Genentech, 566 F.3d at 1345; 

In re Acer Am. Corp., 626 F.3d 1252, 1256 (Fed. Cir. 2010). Since this likelihood is small, and 

since it is necessarily rooted in speculation, the corresponding weight in favor of transfer is very 

slight. 

2. Monarch’s Sources of Proof 

Cisco next argues that Monarch’s sources of proof are located primarily in Irvine, in the 

Central District of California. (Dkt. No. 77, at 9). Monarch responds that this should be given little 

weight because of Monarch’s choice to litigate in the Eastern District of Texas. (Dkt. No. 91, at 7). 

Monarch also argues that Cisco has failed to identify any particular documents or other evidence 

that Monarch has in California.  

“In patent infringement cases, the bulk of the relevant evidence usually comes from the 

accused infringer.” Genentech, 566 F.3d at 1345. The Court notes in passing that Cisco has not 

counterclaimed against Monarch. Given the comparatively low likelihood that evidence from 

Monarch’s location in the Central District of California will need to be transported to trial, and 

Monarch’s acceptance of producing whatever it is here, this factor also weighs very slightly in 

favor of transfer to the Northern District of California. 

3. Third-Party Sources of Proof 

Cisco identifies three third parties as relevant sources of proof: (1) Acacia, Monarch’s 

corporate parent; (2) Apple, a licensee to the Asserted Patents; and (3) IETF, a standards-setting 
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organization. (Dkt. No. 77, at 9–10). Monarch identifies two further sources: Orange and 

Transpacific, both predecessors-in-title to the Asserted Patents. (Dkt. No. 91, at 8). The parties’ 

arguments regarding Acacia are similar to those regarding Monarch. Cisco argues that Acacia’s 

headquarters in Irvine is closer to the Northern District of California. (Dkt. No. 77, at 10). Monarch 

responds that Acacia’s evidence is only marginally more convenient in the Northern District of 

California. (Dkt. No. 91, at 7). The Court agrees with Monarch that Acacia’s evidence is only 

marginally more convenient there than here. Moreover, the odds that evidence from Monarch’s 

corporate parent will play a major role at trial are slim. 

Turning next to third-party licensee Apple, Cisco contends that Apple is expected to have 

proof relevant to negotiations for the Asserted Patents, and that Apple’s AirPort product may 

embody at least some of the patents. (Dkt. No. 77, at 10). Apple’s headquarters is in Cupertino, in 

the Northern District of California. (Id.). Monarch contests the relevance of Apple’s California 

evidence. First, Monarch argues that there is no evidence that Apple’s products actually practice 

the Asserted Patents. (Dkt. No. 91, at 7). Second, Monarch argues that there is no proof that Apple 

maintains such evidence in California, as opposed to its other facilities (including Apple’s sizeable 

facility in Austin, Texas). (Id. at 7–8). The Court is persuaded that Apple’s evidence would be 

more convenient in the Northern District of California, but that Apple’s evidence would likely 

only play a small role at trial. Also, Cisco’s contentions as to Apple are rooted in maybe and 

perhaps—without the certainty needed to afford this any material weight. 

As to IETF, Cisco contends that IETF will have proof in the Northern District related to 

the accused standards (RFC Nos. 7597 and 7599), working draft documents related to the Asserted 

Patents, licensing obligations of the original patentee, invention disclosures made to IETF, and 

prior art. (Dkt. No. 77, at 10). IETF is headquartered in the Northern District of California, but 
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Monarch argues that the contributors to the standards are located all around the world, with only 

one contributor in that district. (Dkt. No. 91, at 8). Nonetheless, the IETF headquarters is relevant 

and more convenient to the Northern District of California, even if its contributors (for whom 

neither district is more convenient, with one exception) are also relevant. Since IETF documents 

that are not publicly available could play some role at trial, the Court is persuaded that IETF’s 

sources of proof in the proposed transferee forum weigh slightly in favor of transfer. 

Turning finally to Orange and Transpacific, neither district is more convenient to these 

entities because Orange is based in France and Transpacific is based in Singapore. 

(See Dkt. Nos. 91-18, 91-19). Both are neutral with respect to transfer.  

4. The First Private Factor Weighs Slightly in Favor of Transfer 

Summing the relative weights of each identified source of proof, the Court finds that the 

first private factor weighs slightly in favor of transfer. As discussed above, the bulk of the evidence 

likely to be relevant in this case is located on Cisco’s distributed data storage system, which the 

Court concludes is neutral with respect to transfer. Weighing in favor of transfer is any non-

electronic evidence remaining at Cisco’s headquarters (yet to be identified), any evidence from 

Monarch, and evidence from third parties Acacia, Apple, and IETF. For evidence from these 

sources, the Northern District of California would be slightly more convenient. However, its 

existence (and, if it exists, its relevance) is highly speculative, as compared to the corpus of 

evidence typically presented in a patent infringement lawsuit—the bulk of which is Cisco’s and is 

electronic. Accordingly, while the first private factor tips in favor of transfer, its weight is only 

slight. 
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B. Private Factor #2: Availability of Compulsory Process to Secure the 

Attendance of Witnesses 

 

The second private factor considered is the availability of compulsory process to secure the 

attendance of witnesses. Volkswagen II, 545 F.3d at 316. Federal district courts have the absolute 

power to compel attendance of a trial, hearing, or deposition “within 100 miles of where the person 

resides, is employed, or regularly transacts business in person.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 45(c)(1)(A). 

Federal district courts have trial subpoena power over a person “within the state where the person 

resides, is employed, or regularly transacts business in person, if the person . . . is a party or a 

party’s officer; or . . . [if the person] is commanded to attend a trial and would not incur substantial 

expense.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 45(c)(1)(B). As party witnesses almost invariably attend trial willingly, 

“[t]his factor is directed towards unwilling third-party witnesses.” C&J Rent Servs., Inc. v. LEAM 

Drilling Sys., LLC, No. 2:19-cv-00079, 2019 WL 3017379, at *3 (E.D. Tex. July 10, 2019). 

Cisco argues that the Northern District of California has absolute subpoena power over 

Apple and IETF witnesses, as well as three prior art witnesses who reside within 100 miles of San 

Francisco. (Dkt. No. 77, at 11–12). Cisco also argues that the Northern District of California has 

trial subpoena power over Acacia witnesses, who are located within the State of California. (Id.).  

Monarch argues that the relevance of the Apple, IETF, and prior art witnesses is overstated. 

(Dkt. No. 91, at 9). As to prior art witnesses, Monarch argues that prior art witnesses are rarely 

called to trial. (Id.). Additionally, because any Acacia witnesses will come to trial willingly, 

Monarch argues that Cisco has “double counted” Acacia witnesses as both willing and unwilling. 

(Dkt. No. 91, at 11; see also Dkt. No. 91-3 ¶ 6). Finally, Monarch notes that a significant number 

of witnesses are outside of either Court’s subpoena power, including the inventors of the Asserted 

Patents (in Europe) and most of the prior art witnesses (twelve of whom are located in other states, 

and others abroad). (Dkt. No. 91, at 10–11). 
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Since Acacia’s witnesses are willing to testify, Monarch is correct that Acacia’s witnesses 

should be deemed willing witnesses, and as such are not to be considered under the compulsory 

process factor. See Quest NetTech, 2019 WL 6344267, at *4 (“Given th[e] representation [that a 

witness would testify willingly], the fact that he is subject to subpoena power in the Northern 

District of California and not in this District is neutralized.”). Turning to the Apple and IETF 

witnesses, their testimony would likely be relevant at trial and they are subject to absolute 

subpoena power in the Northern District of California. The Apple and IETF witnesses weigh in 

favor of transfer to that district. The three prior art witnesses cited by Cisco also weigh in favor of 

transfer, but to a lesser degree; there is no indication that they would be unwilling to travel, and 

the relevance of a particular prior art witness’s live testimony at trial is speculative at best. Id. at *5; 

AGIS, 2018 WL 2329752, at *7. 

Although more third-party witnesses are subject to subpoena power in the Northern District 

of California than in the Eastern District of Texas, the convenience value of compulsory process 

is greatly diluted because a sizeable majority of all third-party witnesses are not subject to 

subpoena in either district. As to the prior art witnesses, Cisco concedes that they are generally 

“dispersed throughout the world.” (Dkt. No. 77, at 7). Cisco has identified three prior art authors 

or witnesses in California, but a greater number of domestic prior art witnesses are likely to be 

found in states such as Colorado, Florida, Illinois, Massachusetts, New Hampshire, New York, 

and Washington. (Dkt. No. 91, at 9; see also Dkt. Nos. 91-4 – 91-10). The inventors of the Asserted 

Patents will also likely be found in Europe. (Dkt. No. 91, at 10; Dkt. No. 77-8, at 8–9; Dkt No. 77-

10, at 3). These witnesses are subject to neither Court’s absolute subpoena power. While the second 

private factor leans in favor of transfer, the number of witnesses not subject to subpoena greatly 

diminishes the overall weight this factor should have relative to other factors. 
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C. Private Factor #3: Cost of Attendance for Willing Witnesses 

 

The third private factor, the cost of attendance for willing witnesses, has been described as 

the most important factor. See Genentech, 566 F.3d at 1343 (quoting Neil Bros. Ltd. v. World Wide 

Lines, Inc., 425 F. Supp. 2d 325, 329 (E.D.N.Y. 2006)). Courts properly give more weight to the 

convenience of non-party witnesses than to party witnesses. See Frito-Lay N. Am., Inc. v. 

Medallion Foods, Inc., 867 F. Supp. 2d 859, 870–71 (E.D. Tex. 2012); State Street Capital Corp. 

v. Dente, 855 F. Supp 192, 198 (S.D. Tex. 1994). The Fifth Circuit has established a so-called 

“100-mile rule”: when the distance between the transferor and proposed transferee venues exceeds 

100 miles, “the factor of inconvenience to witnesses increases in direct relationship to the 

additional distance to be traveled.” Volkswagen I, 371 F.3d at 201; Genentech, 566 F.3d at 1343; 

Apple, 979 F.3d at 1341. The distance between Marshall, Texas and San Francisco, California is 

approximately 1,600 miles from point to point.  

Cisco identifies three of its own witnesses in the Northern District of California: Rob 

Hamilton, Mark Townsley, and Vishnuprakash Selvarajan. (Dkt. No. 77, at 5). A fourth, Ole 

Trøan, is identified by Cisco as living in Norway. (Id.). Cisco also argues that six 

“Monarch-aligned” fact witnesses (including five Acacia witnesses),6 along with Monarch’s 

technical expert witness, reside in California. (Id. at 13). Cisco contends that the Northern District 

of California would be more convenient to all of these witnesses except Trøan, for whom this 

factor is neutral. (Id.) 

Monarch identifies three additional Cisco witnesses relevant to this lawsuit who are located 

in the Eastern District of Texas: Scott Biavaschi, Marc Surplus, and Curt Reid. (Dkt. No. 91, at 

 
6  (See Dkt. No. 91, at 11 (“As an initial matter, Cisco double counted the “Monarch aligned 
witnesses in both willing Monarch witnesses and unwilling Acacia witnesses.”)).  
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11–12). Monarch also identifies a fourth Cisco witness, Rajiv Asati, located in Raleigh-Durham, 

North Carolina, for whom travel to this District would be more convenient. (Id. at 11–12). As to 

Monarch/Acacia witnesses, Monarch contends that those identified by Cisco “all live hundreds of 

miles from [the Northern District of California], and there is no reason to believe that [the Eastern 

District of Texas] is any less convenient.” (Id. at 11). 

Turning first to the identified Cisco witnesses, the Court is presented with three witnesses 

located in the Northern California area and three witnesses located in the East Texas area. A trial 

conducted in either district would necessarily cause the same inconvenience to three Cisco 

witnesses. Accordingly, the Cisco witnesses who are at home in either district are neutral with 

respect to transfer. Mr. Asati in North Carolina would have to travel approximately 900 miles to 

Marshall, and would have to travel an additional 1,600 miles (for a total of 2,500) for a trial in San 

Francisco.7 For Mr. Asati, a trial in the Eastern District of Texas would be significantly more 

convenient. Mr. Trøan of Norway is neutral for the transfer analysis.8 

Turning next to the identified Monarch witnesses, Cisco has identified Monarch’s CEO, 

Mr. Mark Booth, in Newport Beach, CA (in the state’s Central District) along with Monarch’s 

technical expert, Dr. Martin Walker, in Palo Alto, CA (in the state’s Northern District). 

(Dkt. No. 77, at 5; Dkt. No. 95, at 4 n.7). The Northern District of California would be more 

convenient for these witnesses. However, the weight of this is diminished with respect to expert 

 
7  Monarch also identifies Ottawa, Canada as a possible location of Cisco witnesses. (See 

Dkt. No. 91, at 11; Gill Dep. Transcript at 107:13–23, Dkt. No. 91-2). Since Monarch does not 

identify any particular witnesses located in Ottawa, the Court does not consider the potential 

convenience of such witnesses. 

8  Like Mr. Asati, Mr. Trøan would have to travel an additional 1,500 miles westward for 

trial in San Francisco versus trial in Marshall. The Federal Circuit has cautioned against an overly 

rigid application of the Fifth Circuit’s 100-mile rule with respect to foreign witnesses who must 

travel a significant distance in any event. Genentech, 566 F.3d at 1344. 
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witnesses, such as Dr. Walker, who are invariably well compensated for their time in appearing to 

testify.9 

Like Monarch’s CEO, Acacia’s willing witnesses reside in California but outside of the 

Northern District. (Dkt. No. 77, at 6; Dkt. No. 91, at 11). Although the Northern District of 

California would be somewhat more convenient than the Eastern District of Texas, the weight of 

this is diminished by the speculative nature of their relevance. Monarch argues that no more than 

one of the Acacia witnesses is likely to testify at trial. (Dkt. No. 91, at 11). Although Cisco claims 

that it will need to bring all five Acacia witnesses to trial (Dkt. No. 95, at 4 n.6), the Court has seen 

time after time that many witnesses disclosed in early trial witness lists (presumably with the most 

honest of intentions) do not end up on the witness stand at trial. As cases develop and issues 

narrow, so do the rosters of witnesses who will provide supporting testimony. Live testimony from 

multiple witnesses from a plaintiff’s corporate parent are not likely to play a significant role at 

trial.10 

 
9  This follows naturally from the policy behind convenience transfers. As the Fifth Circuit 

has stated, 

Additional distance means additional travel time; additional travel time increases 

the probability for meal and lodging expenses; and additional travel time with 

overnight stays increases the time which these fact witnesses must be away from 

their regular employment. Furthermore, the task of scheduling fact witnesses so as 

to minimize the time when they are removed from their regular work or home 

responsibilities gets increasingly difficult and complicated when the travel time 

from their home or work site to the court facility is five or six hours one-way as 

opposed to 30 minutes or an hour. 

Volkswagen I, 371 F.3d at 205. Unlike with fact witnesses, testifying at trial is an expert witness’s 
employment (at least in part), and traveling for trial is a necessary and expected incident of 

accepting such employment.  

10  It is worth pausing here to illustrate how this factor varies considerably between cases of 

different types. In car-wreck cases, for example, the witness lists are fairly determinate well before 

trial. The typical witness lists include the drivers, eyewitnesses, investigating peace officers and 

paramedics, and treating physicians, with the possible inclusion of accident reconstructionists and 

consulting medical experts. For the most part, the identities of these witnesses are crystalized by 
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Other potential willing witnesses include the inventors of the Asserted Patents and the 

inventors/authors of Cisco’s prior art references. As witnesses from Orange are located in Europe, 

they are neutral with respect to transfer. The same is true regarding prior art witnesses who live 

abroad. As to domestic prior art witnesses scattered about the country,11 the central location of the 

Eastern District of Texas is more convenient to them as a body than the Northern District of 

California. 

The Court concludes that the third private factor weighs slightly against transfer. 

Concerning party witnesses, trial in either district would be equally convenient for the Cisco 

witnesses, and trial in the Northern District of California would be slightly more convenient for 

 

real-world events, independent of trial. Accordingly, the convenience and cost-of-attendance for 

these witnesses can be assessed early in the case. 

In patent cases, to the contrary, the Court’s experience is that witness lists are almost certain 

to change in a meaningful way as trial strategy develops. Early assessment of witness lists is highly 

speculative. In the typical patent case, the key trial witnesses are usually corporate representatives, 

technical experts, and damages experts from both sides. Other roles may be played by inventors, 

prior art authors, party employees, and third-party witnesses depending on the facts and theories 

of each case. Often, witnesses with smaller roles appear by deposition. Parties generally, and 

properly, disclose broad witness lists early on to provide fair notice to one another. In practice, 

these lists are simply not representative of who will ultimately testify at trial. Depositions reveal 

who is knowledgeable and who is not. Case strategies change as plaintiffs narrow their asserted 

claims and defendants focus on certain prior art references and discard others, or discard theories 

of invalidity altogether. As case strategies change, so does the relative importance of each witness. 

Often, witness lists retain significant quantities of “May Call” witnesses even through the pretrial 

conference. A party’s assertion that certain witnesses will be necessary for trial must be assessed 
with a careful eye towards the facts and needs of the case itself. See Van Dusen v. Barrack, 376 

U.S. 612, 622 (1964) (noting that a transfer analysis requires an “individualized, case-by-case 

consideration of convenience and fairness”).  
It is also worth noting that the Volkswagen cases (which are the starting points for a 

§ 1404(a) dispute filed before a district court in the Fifth Circuit) were car-wreck/products liability 

cases. Volkswagen I, 371 F.3d 201; Volkswagen II, 545 F.3d 304. They were free of the realities 

embedded in the realm of patent litigation.  

11  According to the prior art references, these witnesses appear to reside in Colorado, Florida, 

Illinois, Massachusetts, New Hampshire, New York, and Washington. (Dkt. No. 91, at 9; Dkt. 

Nos. 91-4 – 91-10). 
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the Monarch witnesses. Despite the questionable relevance of five Acacia witnesses and fifteen 

domestic prior art authors, trial in this District is more convenient for most of these third-party 

witnesses. On balance, trial in the Eastern District of Texas would be slightly more convenient for 

most of the willing witnesses. 

D. Private Factor #4: All Other Practical Problems That Make Trial of a Case 

Easy, Expeditious and Inexpensive 

 

The fourth private factor, practical problems, includes concerns rationally based on judicial 

economy. Quest NetTech, 2019 WL 6344267, at *6; see also In re Vistaprint Ltd., 628 F.3d 1342, 

1346 (Fed. Cir. 2010). Cisco urges that this factor is “neutral” because none of the Asserted Patents 

have been previously litigated and because “no substantive proceedings regarding the Patents-In-

Suit have occurred in this litigation.” (Dkt. No. 77, at 13). Monarch responds that Cisco’s delay in 

filing its Motion to Transfer “strongly disfavors transfer.” (Dkt. No. 91, at 12–13). The Court is 

persuaded that Cisco’s substantial delay in moving to transfer is a fact that weighs heavily against 

transfer.  

Cisco waited until roughly halfway through this case’s lifecycle to first assert that litigation 

in this forum would be inconvenient—that is, nearly nine months after the complaint was filed, 

and a further nine months out from the set trial date.12 In the meantime, the parties and the Court 

expended substantial resources in litigating pretrial aspects of this case, both procedural and 

substantive. While Cisco’s contentions that no substantive proceedings had yet occurred may be 

true in a literal sense, the lengthy preparations for a Markman hearing do not occur overnight. 

Cisco filed its Motion to Transfer the day before the parties’ Joint Claim Construction and 

 
12  At all relevant times, jury selection was set for May for 2021. That date has since been 

advanced one month, to June 2021, by agreement of the parties, to resolve an unrelated dispute. 

(See Dkt. No. 121). 
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Prehearing Statement was due. At that time, the parties had already exchanged proposed claim 

terms and preliminary constructions. This Motion to Transfer was not fully briefed until October 

28, 2020, at which point the parties’ Opening and Responsive Claim Construction Briefs had 

already been filed and the Markman hearing was just three weeks away.13 (See Dkt. Nos. 88, 96). 

Cisco had been aware of these deadlines since June 2, when the Court entered its Docket Control 

Order setting them. (See Dkt. No. 51). 

 In reply, Cisco endeavors to explain away this delay by saying that it waited for 

Connecticut-based Co-Defendant Charter to be dismissed from the suit, at which point “the weight 

of the evidence shifted significantly to California.” (Dkt. No. 95, at 5). The Court finds this 

explanation unpersuasive. Cisco’s argument is belied by the fact that Cisco also argues that there 

was a “clear connection” to the Northern District of California from before Charter’s dismissal—

a connection that, in Cisco’s view, Monarch was deliberately trying to “obfuscate.” (Id.). However, 

if the connection to the Northern District of California was so clear, Cisco could and should have 

filed its Motion to Transfer months earlier. Nonetheless, Cisco maintains that the dismissal of 

Charter had a real, material effect on convenience. Cisco cannot have it both ways.14 The Court is 

not persuaded that the dismissal changed the operative facts for convenience or somehow gave 

Cisco new knowledge—at least not in a way that justifies the strategic timing of Cisco’s motion.15 

 
13  The Markman hearing was held before Magistrate Judge Roy S. Payne on November 20, 

2020. (Dkt. No. 110).   

14  Cisco claims Monarch toyed with the convenience issue vis-à-vis the Northern District of 

California months before Cisco even raised convenience as a live issue before the Court. 

(Dkt. No. 95, at 5). The Court does not agree with Cisco’s post hoc interpretation of the events. 

15  In any event, the relevant facts about Charter’s effect on convenience are not before the 
Court. (See, e.g., Sealed Transcript at 32:6–10, Dkt. No. 125). 
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 To transfer this matter to another district would largely obviate all the resources expended 

by the parties and the Court to prepare this case for claim construction. It is for this reason that the 

appellate courts have emphasized the importance of timely filing and resolving motions to transfer. 

The Fifth Circuit has stated that “[p]arties seeking a change of venue should act with ‘reasonable 

promptness.’” Peteet v. Dow Chem Co., 868 F.2d 1428, 1346 (5th Cir. 1989); see also Utterback, 

716 F. App’x at 245 (“Utterback insists the timing of his motion is immaterial to the § 1404(a) 

analysis. Our caselaw suggests the opposite.”). Parties typically file these motions early. In fact, it 

is not uncommon in this district for parties to inform the Court of a pending or impending transfer 

motion at an initial scheduling conference. A transfer motion filed midway through the case 

necessarily forfeits some convenience. The longer a litigant waits to file a transfer motion, the 

more resources the parties and the Court will expend by the time the motion is ripe for 

consideration. Therefore, the later a motion is filed, the less convenient a transfer would be. 

Notably, that reduction in convenience is caused by the very party seeking transfer because of 

convenience. 

 The Federal Circuit recently addressed a reciprocal issue. In Apple, the Federal Circuit 

stated that “[a] district court’s decision to give undue priority to the merits of a case over a party’s 

transfer motion should not be counted against that party in the venue transfer analysis.”16 Apple, 

979 F.3d at 1343; see also In re Horseshoe Ent’t, 337 F.3d 429, 433 (5th Cir. 2003) (“[T]he Middle 

District Court waited some 13 months . . . to rule on Horseshoe’s motion to transfer. . . . [I]n our 

view disposition of that motion should have taken a top priority. . . .”). In Apple, the Federal Circuit 

 
16  Apple filed its motion to transfer in November of 2019. Apple, 979 F.3d at 1336. The 

District Court held a hearing on that motion in May of 2020 and stated that it would deny the 

motion. Id. After the hearing, but before issuing a written order, the District Court held a Markman 

hearing, issued a claim construction order, and resolved a discovery dispute. Id. The District Court 

relied on these intervening events in its written order to deny transfer. Id. at 1343.  
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criticized the District Court for “barrel[ling] ahead on the merits” while a transfer motion had been 

pending for approximately eight months, and then relying on the intervening substantive 

proceedings to deny the transfer motion. Apple, 979 F.3d at 1338.17 

Read together, cases such as Apple, Horseshoe, Peteet, Utterback, and others state a 

preference for resolution of venue issues before the merits of a case—when possible. In the 

uncommon circumstance where a party chooses to prioritize litigating the merits over filing a 

motion to transfer—as Cisco has done here—that timing is a factor the Court should consider. The 

timing of Cisco’s Motion to Transfer unavoidably set it on a collision course with “the most 

important and time-intensive substantive tasks . . . in a patent case.” Id. Under these circumstances, 

unlike Apple, to overlook what has intervened between filing and resolution of the Motion to 

Transfer would be to give no effect to timing at all. “On the question of convenience, timing is 

obviously salient[.]” Utterback, 716 F. App’x at 245.  

The Court finds in this case that the timing of Cisco’s Motion to Transfer was not 

reasonably prompt. Transferring this case would send it to the back of the line in the transferee 

Court. Additionally, transfer could subject significant aspects of this case to re-litigation—thus 

wasting the resources expended by both the Court and the parties—unless the transferee Court 

simply accepts this Court’s rulings across the board.18 In the least, transfer would create an 

incentive and opportunity for Cisco to make a second run at issues already litigated here. See 

Utterback, 716 F. App’x at 245 (“[I]t would emphatically not serve the interest of justice to allow 

[the moving party] to take a second ‘bite[ ] at the apple’ in Florida, just after learning that he would 

 
17  The Federal Circuit also noted that the transferee court in Apple had multiple pending cases 

with overlapping issues. Apple, 979 F.3d at 1343. That is not the case here. 

18  This is not a given. See, e.g., Personalized Media Comm’cns, LLC v. Netflix, Inc., No. 1:20-

cv-3708, 2020 WL 5026600 (S.D.N.Y. Aug. 25, 2020) (revisiting claim construction after a 

discretionary transfer). 
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lose in Mississippi.”). The Court is wary that the interests of justice would be served under a regime 

that encourages a “wait-and-see” approach to transfer motions. Accordingly, this factor weighs 

materially against transfer. 

E. Public Factor #1: Administrative Difficulties Flowing from Court Congestion 

The first public factor disfavors transfer because this district has a faster time to trial than 

the Northern District of California. A faster average time to trial means a more efficient and 

economical resolutions of the claims at issue. According to the latest statistics released by the 

Administrative Office of the U.S. Courts, trial times are consistently and significantly faster in this 

district than in the Northern District of California.19 Additionally, the projected time to trial in this 

district would be even faster given the stage of the case when Cisco’s motion was filed. The trial 

date was roughly nine months out at that time. Transferring this case to the Northern District of 

California would both turn back the clock and then run it more slowly. This factor weighs against 

transfer. 

F. Public Factor #2: The Local Interest in Having Localized Interests Decided at 

Home 

 

“[J]ury duty is a burden that ought not to be imposed upon the people of a community 

which has no relation to the litigation.” Volkswagen I, 371 F.3d at 206. Cisco argues that this factor 

favors transfer because the Northern District of California has a strong localized interest in this 

 
19  See National Judicial Caseload Profile, ADMIN. OFFICE OF U.S. CTS. (Sept. 30, 2020), 

https://www.uscourts.gov/sites/default/files/data_tables/fcms_na_distprofile0930.2020.pdf. For 

the twelve-month period ending September 30, 2020, the median time from filing to trial in civil 

cases was 18.0 months in the Eastern District of Texas and 44.5 months in the Northern District 

of California. Id. at 35, 66. For the period ending September 30, 2019, those figures were 16.8 

months in the Eastern District of Texas and 22.8 months in the Northern District of California. Id. 

The Court is mindful that the statistics for the most recent reporting period may be skewed due to 

the COVID-19 pandemic. Nonetheless, the statistics from previous reporting periods confirm that 

trial times are consistently and significantly faster in this district. 
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case. (Dkt. No. 77, at 14). Cisco contends that this case implicates the reputations of California 

companies and individuals, including Cisco’s San Jose-based engineers, California prior art 

witnesses, and a California-based standards body. (Id.). Monarch argues that this factor is neutral 

because the Eastern District of Texas also has strong local interests in this case. (Dkt. No. 91, at 

14–15). Monarch identifies several Cisco witnesses located in this District whose reputations are 

also implicated. (Id.). Monarch also notes that Cisco employs over 3,000 Texans, 1,200 of whom 

are in this District with the balance in the neighboring Western District of Texas. Finally, Monarch 

points to Cisco receiving “significant financial incentives from taxpayers” in Collin County, Texas 

and the City of Richardson, Texas—both located in this District—regarding its facilities there. 

The Court finds that both the Northern District of California and the Eastern District of 

Texas have strong local interests in hearing this case. However, the Court is not persuaded that 

either district’s interest is particularly stronger than the other’s. On balance, the Court finds this 

factor to be neutral. 

G. Public Factors #3 and #4: Familiarity with Governing Law and Conflicts of 

Laws 

 

The parties agree that the third and fourth public factors are neutral. (See Dkt. No. 77, at 

15; Dkt. No. 91, at 15). Noting that this case implicates federal patent law under Title 35 of the 

United States Code, the Court find that both factors are neutral for the transfer analysis. 

H. Cisco Has Failed to Demonstrate That the Northern District of California 

Would Be Clearly More Convenient 

 

Having considered the private and public interest factors, the Court now proceeds to weigh 

them. In summary: the access-to-evidence factor weighs only slightly in favor of transfer; the 

compulsory-process factor weighs only slightly in favor of transfer; the convenience-for-willing-

witnesses factor weighs slightly against transfer; the practical-problems factor weighs heavily 
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against transfer because of the timing of Cisco’s motion; the court-congestion factor also weighs 

against transfer; and the other public interest factors are neutral. On these facts, the Court is not 

persuaded that trial in the Northern District of California would be clearly more convenient than 

trial in the Eastern District of Texas. 

IV. CONCLUSION 

For the reasons stated above, the Court is of the opinion that Cisco has failed to meet its 

burden to demonstrate that litigating in the Northern District of California would be clearly more 

convenient. Accordingly, the Motion to Transfer is DENIED. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

____________________________________

RODNEY  GILSTRAP

UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE

So ORDERED and SIGNED this 5th day of January, 2021.
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